FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/1/2025 4:18 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No. 59172-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHELDON SOULE, an individual, Petitioner/Appellant

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON BY AND THROUGH BOB FERGUSON AND HIS OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL,

a public agency, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joan K. Mell, WSBA #21319 III BRANCHES, PLLC 1019 Regents Blvd. Ste. 204 Fircrest, WA 98466 (253)-566-2510 joan@3brancheslaw.com

Lawyer for Public Records Requestor Sheldon Soule

I. INTRODUCTION

Division II approved an unprecedented two-year, fourmonth response time for the Attorney General ("AGO") to produce public records. The Public Records Act's ("PRA") presumptive five business day standard for prompt PRA responses has been nullified. Agencies will even more uniformly respond via drawn out installments fearlessly. AGO, and other agencies who choose to follow its precedent, may redeploy AGO's antiquated and time-consuming snail mail methods to transmit public records to requestors. Supreme Court review is needed to reconcile PRA promptness requirements with exceptions for larger productions that do not consume promptness. Without further judicial review, constitutionally grounded open government provisions like Wash. Const. art. I Sec. 1 that vests political power with the people through informed consent will be practically ineffective. Free and democratic society will suffer the harm of untimely or delayed production of public records.

Regarding agency searches, Division II has disregarded Division I and III precedent that measures agency diligence – or the adequacy of its search - from an objective requestor's viewpoint. Division II discounted the requestor's efforts to cross-examine agency declarants giving the trial court unfair discretion to defer to the AGO. Soule's objective evidence that agency declarants were not thorough and omitted facts relevant to its search were ignored. AGO was permitted to limit searches for communications to e-mail, no texts nor chats, using search terms that were ineffective and without involving employees known to have generated responsive records or their technologies in any search. If left unchallenged, public agencies will not be deterred from inadequate searches.

As to show cause hearings, the AGO and other agencies may now reliably predict and strategically ensure that their insufficient declarations at a merits hearing will not be subjected to any meaningful scrutiny to put them at any risk of penalties. It defies meaningful enforcement when Soule may be denied cross

examination through expedited and unreasonable time limits on discovery set over his objections and by interjecting a judicially created time requirement that he demand live testimony and prove why it is needed prior to agency disclosure of its declarants' testimony and evidence. Per the ruling, show cause hearings may well be purely perfunctory. Supreme Court review is needed to restore balance to the PRA that requires not only an expeditious outcome but a just determination.

The Supreme Court should grant discretionary review to reconcile review standards giving weight to the requestor's viewpoint and to ensure meaningful merits hearings with cross examination of agency declarants via deposition or live testimony to protect constitutionally grounded open government.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Sheldon Soule, appellant public records requestor, seeks review of the Division II decision identified in Part III below.

III. DIVISION II DECISION

Division II of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision in Cause No. 59172-3-II on April 1, 2025, upholding the trial court's dismissal on the merits of Soule's PRA enforcement action against AGO.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether AGO may prolong for an unlimited duration production of public records via installments? Is AGO's two years four months producing 30,000 pages of form consumer complaints prompt or consistent with PRA policy objectives of transparency?
- B. Whether AGO may limit searches for communications to a remote email search without adequate search terms and without involving actual involved employees and their technologies?
- C. Whether Thurston County Superior Court's Unreasonable Emphasis on Expedited Proceedings Undermines PRA policies and government transparency grounded in Washington Constitution?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Between December 1, 2010, and June 30, 2013, Wells Fargo offered mortgage modifications to qualified homeowners

delinquent or facing imminent default on their home mortgage and infused \$1.6 million dollars into a foreclosure relief fund. Washington State Office of the Attorney General, *Enforcement Actions*, https://www.atg.wa.gov/enforcement-actions (last visited May 1, 2025). Sheldon Soule contacted AGO to access these benefits. CP Vol.1 at 1. Soule sought public records to educate himself on what happened to his request for benefits. CP Vol. 3 331.

On January 3, 2020, Soule asked for the following public records, CP Vol. 3 95:

- A. All communications between Wells Fargo Representative Mark Elliot or any other Wells Fargo employee or representative and the below listed employees, or any other employee at the Washington State Attorney General's office in relation to the 2010 Assurance of Discontinuance (AOD) and the National Mortgage Settlement (NMS) Wells Fargo made with Washington State.
- B. All records in the personnel files of the following current or former employees of the Washington State Attorney General's office:
- 1. David Huey
- 2. Rich Zwicker
- 3. Shannon Smith
- 4. Any and all employees, paralegals, legal assistants, analysts, accountants or lawyers who had any involvement with the 2010 Assurance of Discontinuance (AOD) and the National Mortgage Settlement(s) (NMS) Wells Fargo made with Washington State. This should include all communications between AGO employees about the AODor National Mortgage Settlement and any communications to or from Wells Fargo representatives about the AOD or National Mortgage Settlement.

On January 10, 2020, AGO acknowledged receipt of the PRR. CP Vol. 3 88. AGO engaged in an exchange with Soule through March without producing any records. The public records officer urged him to narrow his request on the personnel records, which he did. CP Vol. 3 88. In May, five months later, AGO sent its first installment. Id. On December 15, 2020, a year after his request, AGO finally produced in its fifth installment approximately nine e-mail threads, minus duplicates. CP Vol. 3 366. 413-417 (exemplars). The only 333-334, communications produced were from its consumer complaints data system. CP Vol. 3 401-412 (exemplars). There were obvious missing public records never produced that pertain to the negotiations with the banks to include terms and related discussions. See 2011 e-mail at CP 413. After two years and four months, AGO gave Soule seventeen installments of mostly form consumer complaints. Soule filed an enforcement action over the prolonged response and inadequate search for the information that would have informed him why AGO failed to secure his home from foreclosure.

VI. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Supreme Court should grant review because Division II's holding conflicts with Division I and II holdings. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Division II did not adhere to the objective standard from the requestor's perspective Division I and III have applied when analyzing promptness or the adequacy of a search. The decision conflicts with PRA policy objectives grounded in Washington Constitution where transparency is essential to preserving political power with the people through informed consent, art. I Section 1, because it over emphasizes expeditious outcomes at the expense of due process and holding agencies accountable under the PRA via meaningful show cause merits hearings. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

A. Prolonged Installments Undermine Transparency

The people responsible for Washington's Public Records Act emphasized agencies must respond with a sense of urgency, RCW 42.56.080(2). RCW 42.56.520 (1): "Responses to requests for public records shall be made **promptly** by agencies...." Five business days is presumptively prompt. RCW 42.56.520. reportedly, the average number of days to respond is 20 days of those agencies reporting to the Joint Legislative Audit Review Committee ("JLARC").1

Division II acknowledged PRA requires a five-business day response but then cited RCW 42.56.520 and RCW 42.56.080(2) as exceptions that give unlimited extension to agencies to respond. In contravention to prompt standards, so long as the agency says it is clarifying the intent of the request, locating and assembling the information requested, notifying third persons, applying exemptions, and producing in installments, agency diligence in prompt production would be

٠

¹JLARC, Briefing Report: 2021 Public Records Reporting, https://leg.wa.gov/jlarc/reports/2023 (January 2023)

moot despite the PRA requiring "the most timely possible action." RCW 42.56.100. Unconvincingly, Division II relied heavily upon the number of pages as justification holding based upon "sheer volume" alone (30,000 pages) more than two years was necessary as if it takes two plus years to process 30,000 pages. AGO did not disclose the quantity of time spent processing the request. CP 87, 238, 253, 255, 257, 259, 359, 363, 365, 370. In reality, 30,000 pages is a nominal sum that could be processed in a matter of days not years.² The installments were for the most part uniform consumer complaints that required little to no redaction. CP 335, 401-411 (examples).

AGO avoided scrutiny of its time investment because Soule did not get the time he requested and needed for discovery, RP 6/2/23 10-11, CP 275, and he was denied cross examination and any live testimony. CP 292, 393.

² Google AI says a "rough estimate for a casual read-through could be around 30-60 hours, assuming an average reading speed of 1-2 pages per minute." "Most people can read 20 pages within 30 minutes."

No other court has approved an agency taking two plus years to produce 30,000 pages of uniform records. Two plus years is inexcusable for an agency the size and competence level of the AGO. AGO should be faster than any other agency.

DOL produced 50,000 pages of public records in response to a complex and broad request in ten months – less than half the time of the AGO that has sophisticated readers to process the records. West v. DOL, 182 Wn. App. 500, 331 P.3d 72 (2014). In Allphin, Kittitas County spent 350 hours producing 20,000 pages in 14 months. Kittitas County v. Allphin, 31 Wn. App. 2d 1074, *5 (2024) (not reported). In *Kittitas v. Allphin*, Kittitas County took four months producing 14,000 pages. Kittitas County v. Allphin, 2 Wn. App. 2d 782, 413 P.3d 22 (2018). In West v. Mah, the City produced 31,000 pages of documents in approximately nine months, 170 Wn. App. 1008 (2021), not reported. In Conklin v. UW, 25 Wn. App. 2d 1010 (2023), not reported, UW produced 24,095 pages in one installment 307 days, less than a year, from the date of the initial request. In *Wade*, the Supreme

Court held 232 days was too long for an agency response when no exemptions applied to the 5,431 pages. *Wade's Eastside Gun Shop, Inv. v. L&I*, 185 Wn. 2d 270, 372 P.3d 97 (2016).

Prompt means "thorough and diligent" based upon specific facts. Freedom Foundation v. DSHS, 9 Wn. App. 2d 654, 445 P.3d 971 (2019). Division III describes this standard as "most consistent with the concept of "fullest assistance" to the inquirer and most timely possible action on requests for information. Andrews v. WSP, 183 Wn. App. 644, 334 P.3d 94 (2014), RCW 42.56.100. Andrews considered diligence from the viewpoint of the requestor, citing Supreme Court authority Cantu v. Yakima Sch. Dist. No. 7, 23 Wn. App. 2d 57, 514 P.3d 661 (2022). In Andrews the one-year delay and one year plus delay in production of video with no explanation communicated to the requestor for the delay was not diligence. Division I has applied the viewpoint of the requester. *Thornewell v. Seattle School Dist.* No. 1, 33 Wn. App. 2d 1010 (2029), citing Violante v. King County Fire Dist. No. 20, 114 Wn. App. 565, 571, 59 P.3d 109

(2002). Administrative inconvenience, insufficient allocation of resources, and difficulty in producing records does not excuse lack of diligence in producing records. *C.S.A. v. Bellevue School Dist. No. 405*, 32 Wn. App. 2d 544, 557 P.3d 268 (2024) (citing *Cantu* at 32 Wn. App. at 283). Responding to several requests does not excuse delay. *Id.* Unlike Division I, Division II permitted excuses like these.

Division II was notably dismissive of Soule's perspective. Somewhat sarcastically it labeled Soule's contention that 30,000 pages of same or similar material should have been produced in one installment implausible: Soule "offers no explanation how this type of production was possible (unless no records were produced until the very end of the process)." From Soule's perspective AGO easily could have processed them in 30 days or one installment early on. CP Vol. 3 335. Notes affixed to the Declaration of Lockridge, Director of the Consumer Affairs Division of the AGO, kept in Law Manager contained a reference showing AGO unreasonably limited the size of "scheduled"

installments" "6 complaints per batch". CP Vol. 3 362. From the requestor's perspective, deliberately limiting the size of an installment was unreasonable and undermines the PRA's prompt production objectives.

Even installments must be made with reasonable diligence, RCW 42.56.080(2); RCW 42.56.100; *C.S.A.*, 32 Wn. App. 2d 544. Curiously, AGO never located its tracking records for this request that would have provided more detail on its inaction and obvious delays. CP Vol. 3 371.

Division II ignored Soule's complaints about the AGO's antiquated production procedures that delayed production for weeks. AGO demanded payment by check delivered regular mail with return delivery of a CD, sometimes corrupted, another two weeks later. CP Vol. 1 CP 313-314. By design, AGO delayed production through its arcane reliance on regular mail to produce records, and its paper payment methods. CP Vol. 1 4, 7, 313-14. AGO refused to use digital technologies to produce records promptly. Officer Young's table in her declaration showed

consistent delays in production by weeks at a time just to turn over the records. CP Vol. 3 90-93. Other agencies produce instantly using portal or other digital technologies. The AGO had the technology, but intentionally did not use it. CP Vol. 1 327-28. There was no excuse for AGO using such antiquated procedures particularly given its experience producing much larger productions digitally in discovery in litigation.

Soule established that from his objective perspective OAG was not diligent, but Division II has ignored the perspective of the requestor standards adhered to by Division I and Division III. Division II's holding undermines the PRA purposes because two plus years later the records have little to no value. Too much time has passed between the issue of importance and the response.

B. Improper Key Word Searches Undermine Transparency

OAG did not conduct an adequate search for many reasons to include a failure to use meaningful search terms when

conducting a remote digital search on limited archived information. Soule's complaint that OAG used improper and inadequate search terms was valid but was discounted by the trial court and Division II who presumed agency declarations to be made in good faith, without the need for clarification, and without substantive omissions. That presumption was erroneous. Soule could have documented the ambiguities and substantive omissions with direct testimony from the declarants if he had been given access to the declarants for cross examination purposes in deposition or via live testimony, but the trial court refused Soule's demands for more time for discovery at the pretrial conference, on his motion to extend time for discovery, and on his timely notice to have the declarants attend the show cause hearing for purposes of cross examination. RP 6/2/23 10-11, CP 275, RP 10/27/23, RP 10/17/23. Instead, he was limited to pointing out the deficiencies in AGO's declarations. RP 12/22/23, CP 315.

As to the specific search terms used, Division II held "the declarations of Young, Teng, Ashley, and Gutzmer show that AGO employees used search terms broad enough to potentially include all the individuals named by Soule as they related to the Wells Fargo negotiations and settlements." Op 26. This conclusion makes no sense. No one used the list of names nor involved employees in any search for responsive e-mail.

Young testified to having received a list of names of individuals, but not that she or anyone else used those names to search those individuals' technologies or communications to or from those individuals or otherwise did anything with those names. CP 89. Young's testimony indicates she gave the list of names to Human Resources to locate personnel records that were never made available. CP 89. There was no search of the involved employees' technologies or files for their communications. The most glaring error is that no one searched for communications with "Mark Elliot." Soule specifically

requested communications with "Mark Elliot," but there was no search performed using his name.

The only search terms Young testified to using were limited to the following: "wells fargo" AND ("assurance of discontinuance" OR "national mortgage settlement"). CP Vol. 3 89. Young got those terms from Teng. CP Vol. 3 258. Teng did not search any data base using search terms. Young testified to searching "all AGO emails" using Teng's one search in Outlook 365. Teng apparently reviewed the search results, but did not testify to having produced any responsive email. CP Vol. 3 258.

Evidence that the Outlook 365 database was incomplete and search terms inadequate was the limited number of e-mail actually produced as well as the limited number responsive to the search 5,953. CP 90. Young's testimony omits the fact that only a handful of the e-mail produced came from that key word search. CP Vol. 3 90 ¶ 16. None of the "17 batches" included 5,953 emails from that search. Obviously, the search terms did

not work sufficiently, and they tried no other alternatives and did no other e-mail search on the users' technologies.

The Wells Fargo litigation extended over a decade or so with thousands of claims processed over the years. There should have been more email specific to the negotiations. CP 333, RP 11/17/23 11. There were virtually none.

Documents that were located and produced from other sources like the complaints database showed that "assurance of discontinuance" OR "national mortgage settlement" were not the terms used in conjunction in communications about the Wells Fargo negotiations or settlement. See, CP 401, 404. The acronyms "AOD" and "NMS" were used. Soule referenced those acronyms in his PRR, but AGO did not use the acronyms to search for responsive records. CP 95 AGO did not use search terms that it knew or should have known would locate responsive records. CP. For example: "WA AGO Assistance Request", CP 406, or "Washington Assurance Agreement", CP 414, "WF Statement" or "WF Statement", CP 419.

Gutzmer did not testify to any search terms he used. CP 238-240. He testified to identifying names of employees involved in AOD and NMS to identify personnel files, but not that he did anything with those names. He did not search the technologies those employees used.

Ashley testified to using search terms "wells fargo" and "dave huey" and no others, but did not testify to searching for email or any other communications. Her search was limited to the "F" drive, which was not described with much specificity. She did not use any of the names identified as involved employees in the PRR. CP 260, 95.

Division II decided that "e-mails that were archived and had been migrated from the AGO's old e-mail database were included in the search." Op. 26. Declarant Beusch testified that emails were archived in Discovery Accelerator. Then AGO started using Office 365 and migrated archived emails into Office 365. No one testified to what was archived, or what happened to separated users accounts. No one testified to

searching Office 365 user accounts for each employee who was identified to have been working on the Wells Fargo matters. There was no search of the relevant user accounts for their emails with Wells Fargo.

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