FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
6/27/2025 10:12 AM  
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON  
CLERK

NO. 1041217

---

**SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

SHELDON SOULE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON BY AND THROUGH BOB  
FERGUSON AND HIS OFFICE OF ATTORNEY GENERAL,

Respondent.

---

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION  
FOR REVIEW**

---

NICHOLAS W. BROWN  
Attorney General

JENNIFER STEELE, WSBA #36751  
Public Records Counsel  
Office of the Attorney General  
800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000  
Seattle, WA 98104  
206-389-2106  
Attorneys for Respondent

##

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

The Court of Appeals followed this established precedent and made no new law. This is a fact specific case where the Court of Appeals and Thurston County Superior Court thoroughly reviewed the facts to reach a correct result. Because the Court of Appeals decision was consistent with this Court's cases and does not present an issue of substantial public importance, this Court should deny Soule's petition for review.

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **A. The AGO Promptly Responded in Compliance with the PRA After Receiving Soule's Broad Request**

Between July 2019 and January 2020, Soule submitted three broad public records requests to the AGO. CP 87. Each request sought multiple subcategories of records related to a nation-wide settlement with Wells Fargo Bank that Washington and other states entered into over a ten-year period. CP 87. The Washington AGO was a leader in a multistate investigation that led to Wells Fargo entering into the settlement, which had to do with certain mortgage loans and offered financial relief in the form of loan modifications to some borrowers who took out those loans. CP 253-254. The Consumer Protection Division (CP Division) of the AGO handled that matter with Assistant Attorney General (AAG) David Huey as the lead counsel. CP 253-254.

Soule's third request about this settlement, labeled "PRR 2020-0009" by the AGO, is the subject of this appeal and included two general categories and seven subcategories of



requested records with multiple people and types of records listed. CP 87, 95-96.

In response to PRR 2020-0009, from January 2020 to May 2022, the AGO sent Soule seventeen batches of records, totaling 30,105 pages. CP 93. The AGO closed the request on May 13, 2022, when the records request was fulfilled. CP 93. The steps the AGO took to respond to and fulfill the request are detailed here.

- 1. The AGO asked Soule for clarification and gave third-party notice to personnel whose files were requested**

PRR 2020-0009 sought two general categories of records. First, the request sought “all communications” between Wells Fargo and the AGO regarding the 2010 Assurance of Discontinuance and the national mortgage settlements. CP 95-96. Second, it sought “all records in the personnel files” of various named and unnamed employees who worked on these matters. CP 95-96.

Given the breadth of Soule's request for "all communications between Wells Fargo ... and any other employee at the [AGO] regarding Wells Fargo and the national mortgage settlement," the AGO sought clarification from Soule several times in an effort to assist Soule in obtaining the records he desired. CP 88, 101-104, 122-130. The AGO sought clarification regarding consumer complaints that might be responsive to Soule's request for "all communications." CP 88, 122-130.

The AGO receives between 20,000 and 25,000 consumer complaints each year, all of which are housed in the Catalyst consumer complaint database. CP 254. Because of the volume of records in the Catalyst database that involved Wells Fargo Bank, including communications between the AGO and Wells Fargo about those complaints, a list of "practice codes" was provided to Soule to confirm the scope of his request. CP 88-89, 122-130. Consumer complaints in the Catalyst database are coded with practice codes that identify the types of potential unfair or

deceptive business practices involved in the complaint. CP 239-40. AGO Senior Public Records Officer Kristin Young sent Soule a list of practice codes involving Wells Fargo complaints and inquired which consumer complaints Soule was interested in. CP 88-89, 122-130. Soule confirmed that the AGO could restrict consumer complaints to be produced to those received before January 17, 2020, that fell under 13 specific practice codes. CP 122-130.

Soule also sought “all records in the personnel files” of three named individuals and “[a]ny and all employees...who had any involvement” with the 2010 Assurance of Discontinuance and the national mortgage settlements. CP 88, 101-104. Multiple members of the CP Division worked together to identify the employees responsive to the request, and the CP Division provided Young with a list of the names of these employees. CP 247-252. After receiving the list of individuals from the CP Division, Young sent third-party notice to those employees

informing them of the public records request that implicated their personnel files. CP 88, 106-120.

The AGO also sought clarification from Soule regarding these personnel records. Young informed Soule of the volume of “all records in the personnel files” and the types of records that would be included and inquired if there were particular records Soule sought. CP 88, 101-104. Soule clarified his request to be seeking only performance evaluations of the named and identified individuals. CP 88, 101-104.

## **2. The AGO searched for responsive records**

While the AGO was working to clarify both portions of Soule’s request, and notifying affected employees whose personnel files had been requested, the AGO was also diligently searching for records.

The AGO centrally searched its email system for all communications using the terms “Wells Fargo” and either “assurance of discontinuance” or “national mortgage settlement.” CP 89-90. The AGO also searched electronic file

folders and hard copy files for responsive communications. CP 257-260. In addition, the AGO searched its consumer complaint database. CP 239-240.

For public records purposes, the AGO conducts centralized searches of the AGO email system, using the software platform Outlook 360. CP 89-90. Every AGO division had records with hits from the search. CP 90. Each division reviewed the records for responsiveness and provided responsive records to Young, who compiled those responsive records and readied them for production to Soule. CP 90.

As described above, the CP Division handled the national mortgage settlement cases, including the Assurance of Discontinuance with Wells Fargo. CP 253-254. Thus, Young sent Soule's records request to the CP Division to begin searching for responsive records. CP 89.

CP Division Public Records Coordinator Andrew Gutzmer emailed Soule's public records request to the entire CP Division. CP 238-239. Gutzmer's email directed

that employees review the public records request, conduct a search for records, determine if they had responsive records, and respond on the CP PRR Tracking List hyperlinked to the email. CP 242-243. All CP Division employees responded indicating that they had reviewed the request and did not have records, except former AAG Amy Teng who responded “yes.” CP 255-256.

In addition, CP Division Chief Shannon Smith, Litigation Support Manager Margaret Farmer, former AAG Amy Teng, and former AGO Paralegal Lesli Ashley worked to identify additional locations where responsive records might be located. CP 257-258.

Ashley searched for responsive records in the Wells Fargo Assurance of Discontinuance file on the AGO’s electronic folder drive where electronic files are maintained. CP 259-260. Ashley also searched the Wells Fargo National Mortgage file on the same drive. CP 259-260. Ashley searched through all the electronic files that the AGO had regarding the Wells Fargo

national mortgage settlement. CP 259-260. When searching, Ashley used broad terms such as “wells fargo” and “dave huey.” CP 259-260. Ashley also searched hard copy files pertaining to the 2010 Assurance of Discontinuance and the national mortgage settlements. CP 259-260. Ashley testified in her declaration that she “searched everywhere we thought records would still be in existence.” CP 259-260.

Teng also searched for responsive records in all of the CP Division’s electronic files that Teng could locate regarding the national mortgage settlement and assurance of discontinuance. CP 257-259. Teng searched the physical and electronic locations that the search team collectively identified might have responsive records. CP 257-259.

Gutzmer searched Catalyst for consumer complaint files responsive to Soule’s request. As explained above, in response to clarification requests from the AGO, Soule identified 13 specific Catalyst practice codes for the AGO to use in searching its complaint database for responsive records. CP 122-130,

238-240. Gutzmer searched Catalyst for all consumer complaints within these 13 practice codes. CP 238-240.

As described above, Soule’s request sought “all records in the personnel files” of certain AGO employees, and the CP Division compiled a list of employees whose personnel files were responsive. CP 247-252. Young sent this list of names to the AGO Human Resources Office to gather the records. CP 136-136. After Soule clarified that his request sought only performance evaluations of the identified employees (CP 101-104), Young informed the Human Resources Office of this clarification, and the Office provided Young with performance evaluations of the identified individuals.<sup>1</sup> CP 89.

### **3. The AGO produced responsive records over a period of approximately two years**

As responsive records were identified, and reviewed for possible redaction, they were made available to Soule in batches.

---

<sup>1</sup> Young informed Soule that the performance evaluations were being completely withheld pursuant to RCW 42.56.230 and *Dawson v. Daly*. CP 365-369.



CP 93. The AGO produced a “variety of kinds of records that ... included records from a variety of timeframes as far back as 2010.” RP 12/22/23 at 9. To name a few, the AGO produced emails, CP 90, consumer complaints, CP 366, correspondence with members of the public, CP 239, communication “exchanges between Mark Elliott from Wells Fargo to Dave Huey and Rich Zwicker from the Attorney General's Office discussing various topics related to the Wells Fargo assurance mortgage agreement ... include[ing] electronic correspondence, mostly emails, some more formal letters attached, as well as handwritten complaints from individual borrowers[,] handwritten signed releases, as well as copies of mortgage paperwork related to individual borrowers’ transactions,” RP 12/22/23 at 14-15.

Once records were located in the search, they were reviewed for responsiveness and if responsive then reviewed again for redactions. CP 87-90, 257-258. Following this detailed review, records were produced to Soule. The AGO consistently communicated with Soule throughout the process. CP 87-93.

The AGO sent Soule “records ready” letters which notified him that a batch of records was ready for production and informed him of the required payment. CP 87-93. Once payment was received, the records were promptly sent. CP 90-93. The declaration of Young contains a detailed description and chronology of the numerous and regular communications and productions made by the AGO to Soule. CP 87-93. The AGO produced large batches of records to Soule every 30 to 45 days. CP 90-93. In all, the AGO produced 30,105 pages of records and communicated consistently with Soule. CP 88, 90-93. PRR 2020-0009 was closed on May 13, 2022, when the records request was fulfilled. CP 93.

**B. Soule Did Not Comply with the Scheduling Order and Made Untimely Requests to Extend Discovery and Convert the Nature of the Hearing**

In May 2023, Soule filed this lawsuit alleging violations of the PRA. In June 2023, the trial court held a scheduling conference. While many things were discussed, at no point before or during the scheduling conference did Soule’s counsel

mention or seek live witness testimony. CP 301. The scheduling conference resulted in the PRA Scheduling Order, signed on June 22, 2023. The scheduling order bifurcated the merits and penalty portions of the matter. The scheduling order established a hearing based on affidavit, as provided for in RCW 42.56.550(3), and included a briefing schedule and hearing date for argument on the merits on November 17, 2023. CP 304-307. The scheduling order, which was agreed to by the parties, made no mention of a trial or witnesses. CP 304-307. The scheduling order included a discovery deadline of September 29, 2023. CP 304-307.

On October 16, 2023, more than two weeks after the discovery deadline and days before the scheduled merits briefing was due, Plaintiff's counsel served a 30(b)(6) deposition notice on the AGO. CP 5-12. At no previous point did Soule serve discovery on the AGO or communicate with the AGO or the court regarding discovery. The late deposition notice demanded the AGO designate one or more persons to testify regarding

sixteen topics, some of which related to penalty factors (e.g., item 14 - *Yousoufian* factors) that were specifically excluded from discovery in the scheduling order during the merits stage of the case. CP 5-12.

The AGO filed a motion to quash. CP 21-25. The trial court quashed the notice of deposition and protected the AGO from any discovery by Soule that was not in compliance with the scheduling order. CP 292-293. Hours after receiving this ruling, Soule's counsel instructed the AGO by email to "make each of your declarants available to testify at the merits hearing." CP 301, 309. Thereafter, Soule's counsel served a Notice to Attend Hearing, purportedly requiring six individuals to attend the hearing to testify as witnesses. CP 311-314.

The AGO filed a motion to quash the notice to attend hearing. CP 296-300. The first available hearing date for the motion to quash was the morning of the scheduled merits hearing. That morning, the court heard argument regarding whether in-person testimony would be heard at the afternoon's

scheduled merits hearing. The trial court stated: “Nobody made a motion two months ago saying we need to change the format, and at this juncture, which is very late, I am not changing the format.” RP 11/17/23 Vol. 1 at 16-17. The merits hearing occurred later that day.

**C. The Superior Court Ruled on the Merits in Favor of the AGO, and the Court of Appeals Affirmed**

Following the merits hearing on PRR 2020-0009, the superior court provided a detailed oral ruling on the issues. Regarding the promptness of the response, the superior court noted that given the content of the records, including private individuals’ mortgage documents, thus necessitating review for personal identifying information, the AGO’s response was timely. RP 12/22/23 at 17. Regarding adequacy of the search, the superior court summarized the evidence and declarations submitted and explained that based on the “search, the scope of the search, the variety of categories of people who were involved in the effort, the locations that were sought, the Court finds that the search was adequate and was reasonable and, in terms of the

scope of the search, that the AG's office has carried its burden of showing on a reasonableness standard that the search was reasonable and did not violate the Public Records Act.” RP 12/22/23 at 16. The superior court determined that the AGO did not violate the PRA and dismissed Soule’s remaining claims. Soule appealed.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court’s decision on the merits and discretionary rulings on discovery and nature of the hearing. The Court of Appeals held that the record established the AGO’s response was reasonably prompt and that the AGO’s search was adequate. It further held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by granting two pre-hearing motions to quash. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court’s decision in an unpublished opinion that followed established law and case precedent.

### **III. ARGUMENT**

Soule is not entitled to review for any of the reasons provided by RAP 13.4(b): (1) The decision of the Court of

Appeals is *not* in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) The decision of the Court of Appeals is *not* in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; (3) There is *not* a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States involved; and (4) The petition does *not* involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals made no new law. Rather, this is a fact specific case where the Court of Appeals and Thurston County Superior Court thoroughly reviewed the facts to reach a correct result. Soule's petition should be denied.

**A. The Superior Court and the Court of Appeals Faithfully Applied This Court's Case Law in the Merits Decisions**

The two issues on the merits that the superior court and Court of Appeals considered were promptness of the agency response and adequacy of the search. Each of these issues has been frequently litigated, and thus there is extensive case precedent laying out the established law. Each of these issues

also require a heavily fact-specific analysis. The superior court and Court of Appeals correctly applied the established law to the facts of this particular matter and reached the correct result.

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